
Hilti Financial Report 2016 | 9

Grou p Fi nancial  State men ts  

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Group Financial Statements  



 

Hilti Financial Report 2016 | 9 

Grou p Fi nancial  State men ts  

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Group Financial Statements 
 



Group Financial Statements 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
 
in CHF million Note   31.12.2016 31.12.2015 
          
ASSETS         
          
          
Intangible assets 7   471.7 410.5 
Property, plant and equipment 8   812.8 779.0 
Investment property 9   1.9 1.9 
Deferred income tax assets 11   158.3 143.7 
Other financial investments 12   11.0 16.0 
Trade and other receivables 14   481.3 422.5 
Derivative financial instruments 16   7.0 7.2 
Total non-current assets     1,944.0 1,780.8 
          
Inventories 13   542.5 528.4 
Trade and other receivables 14   1,014.2 959.0 
Current income taxes receivable 26   22.4 8.9 
Accrued income and prepayments 15   47.9 46.1 
Derivative financial instruments 16   5.9 3.4 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17   23.5 34.0 
Cash and cash equivalents 18   1,113.8 1,046.2 
Total current assets     2,770.2 2,626.0 
          
TOTAL ASSETS     4,714.2 4,406.8 
 

The notes are an integral part of these Group financial statements. 
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in CHF million Note   31.12.2016 31.12.2015 
          
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES         
          
          
Non-controlling interests     4.6  9.0  
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent     2,507.6  2,262.5  
Total equity 20   2,512.2  2,271.5  
          
Provisions 21   70.4  58.4  
Employee benefits 22   582.4  506.0  
Deferred income tax liabilities 11   48.3  29.8  
Bonds 23   242.4  360.8  
Long-term bank borrowings 24   28.4  28.1  
Trade and other payables 25   21.9  26.2  
Derivative financial instruments 16   – 0.7  
Total non-current liabilities     993.8  1,010.0  
          
Provisions 21   70.1  65.1  
Employee benefits 22   6.6  107.7  
Trade and other payables 25   377.3  355.8  
Current income taxes payable 26   124.4  101.0  
Accrued liabilities and deferred income 27   415.5  386.6  
Bonds 23   117.1  – 
Short-term bank borrowings 28   86.0  100.9  
Derivative financial instruments 16   11.2  8.2  
Total current liabilities     1,208.2  1,125.3  
          
Total liabilities     2,202.0  2,135.3  
          
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     4,714.2  4,406.8  
 

The notes are an integral part of these Group financial statements. 

  



Group Financial Statements 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
 
in CHF million Note   2016 2015 
          
Net sales 29   4,632.9 4,383.5 
Other operating revenues 29   103.3 94.9 
Total operating revenues     4,736.2 4,478.4 
          
Change in inventory 30   15.6 (7.6) 
Material costs 30   (1,330.4) (1,306.4) 
Personnel expenses 31   (1,886.2) (1,752.5) 
Depreciation and amortization 32   (156.4) (157.0) 
Other operating expenses 33   (775.0) (707.5) 
Total operating expenses     (4,132.4) (3,931.0) 
          
Operating result     603.8 547.4 
          
Other revenues and expenses (net) 34   (3.3) (14.6) 
Finance costs 35   (27.4) (26.5) 
          
Net income before income tax expense     573.1 506.3 
          
Income tax expense 36   (91.7) (96.6) 
          
Net income     481.4 409.7 
          
Attributable to:         
Equity holders of the parent     485.9 410.4  
Non-controlling interests     (4.5) (0.7) 
 

The notes are an integral part of these Group financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
in CHF million Note   2016 2015 
          
Net income     481.4  409.7  
          
Net movement on cash flow hedges 16   3.2  (1.0) 
Deferred tax on net movement on cash flow hedges 20   (0.4) 0.1  
Foreign currency translation differences 20   (3.0) (95.7) 
Deferred tax on foreign currency translation differences 20   0.2  1.3  
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to the income 
statement 

    
– (95.3) 

          
Remeasurements on employee benefits 22   (43.4) (41.3) 
Deferred tax on remeasurements on employee benefits 20   8.0  3.9  
Items that will never be reclassified to the income statement     (35.4) (37.4) 
          
Other comprehensive income (OCI)     (35.4) (132.7) 
          
Total comprehensive income     446.0  277.0  
          
Attributable to:         
Equity holders of the parent     450.4  277.7  
Non-controlling interests     (4.4) (0.7) 
 

The notes are an integral part of these Group financial statements. 

  



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

  
 Segment reporting (2.4) Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 

to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible 
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified as the Executive Board (EB) that makes strategic decisions. With the Group’s Multi-
Channel-Service (MCS) approach, all products and services are relevant for all customers and 
the EB steers the business on Group level as one unit. In accordance with IFRS 8 Operating 
Segments, paragraph 5, the Group therefore operates in only one single operating segment. 
The single operating segment disclosure is accordingly set out in the balance sheet, income 
statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and the cash 
flow statement. Breakdown of the segment information in terms of products, services and 
geographical areas is provided in note (37). 

  
  

 Foreign currency translation (2.5)
  

Functional and presentation 
currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s companies are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the 
functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss francs, 
which is the functional and presentation currency of the Hilti Corporation. 
 

Transactions and balances Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, excluding long-term 
intercompany accounts receivables and payables, are recognized in the income statement. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to long-term intercompany foreign currency loans 
are regarded as part of the net investment in the foreign entity and are recognized in OCI. 
 
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through 
profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included 
in OCI. 
 

Translation on consolidation The results and financial position of all the Group’s companies that have a functional currency 
different from the Group’s presentation currency are translated on consolidation into the 
Group’s presentation currency as follows: 
 

• assets and liabilities at the closing spot exchange rates at the balance sheet date 
(closing rate) and 

• income and expense items at year-to-date sales-weighted average exchange rates 
(average rate) (to provide a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the 
rates prevailing on the transaction dates). 

 
Gains and losses arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations 
are recognized in OCI. 
 
On the foreign operation’s disposal, applicable exchange differences are reclassified to the 
income statement and recognized as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When a foreign 
operation is acquired, any applicable goodwill and fair value adjustments are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign entity and are translated at the closing rate. 
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The following exchange rates of principal currencies were applied for translation into Swiss 
francs: 

 
in CHF Average rates Closing rates 
  2016 2015 2016 2015 
          
1 CAD 0.744 0.753 0.757 0.717 
1 EUR 1.090 1.068 1.074 1.084 
1 GBP 1.335 1.470 1.254 1.476 
100 JPY 0.909 0.795 0.870 0.827 
100 RUB 1.482 1.587 1.670 1.343 
1 USD 0.985 0.962 1.019 0.995 

 
 

 Intangible assets (2.6) Goodwill is considered to have an indefinite useful life and is accordingly not amortized. 
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and recognized at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the 
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of any goodwill relating to the entity sold. 
 
Development costs are recognized as an asset only when the prerequisite criteria under IAS 38 
Intangible Assets are met. In substance, these criteria include the condition that there will be 
probable future benefits that are directly attributable to the costs. In practice, only costs on 
certain product development projects that are subjected to a stringent review process, meet 
this condition. Such assets are normally amortized on a straight-line basis over a five-year 
period. All other development costs are recognized directly as an expense when incurred. 
 
Other intangible assets consist mainly of database and application software as well as 
manufacturing patents. These assets are recognized at historical cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. They are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives, which are mostly periods of between three and five 
years. Other periods may be used where specific contractual conditions apply. 
 

  
 Property, plant and (2.7)

equipment 
Land is valued at historical cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Other property, 
plant and equipment are recognized at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Historical cost may also include transfers from 
equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of 
tangible fixed assets. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the historical costs of 
assets over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives of depreciable property, 
plant and equipment are: 
 
Buildings 20 to 40 years 
Plant and machinery 5 to 15 years 
Other operating assets 2 to 7 years 
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 Financial assets (2.8) For the purpose of identifying accounting policies applied, financial assets are classified into 

the following categories: 
 

• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
• loans and receivables and 
• available-for-sale financial assets. 

 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-
evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 
 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss 

This category has two subcategories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at 
fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this category if 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term or if so designated by 
management. Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated 
as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are either held for 
trading or are expected to be realized within 12 months of the balance sheet date. 
 

Loans and receivables Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or 
services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. They are included in 
current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
These are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in ‘trade and 
other receivables’ (see note (2.10)). 
 

Available-for-sale financial 
assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated 
in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless management intends to dispose the investment within 12 months of the 
balance sheet date. 
 

Accounting policies applied 
to financial assets 

The accounting policies applied to financial assets are as follows: 
 
For all classes of financial assets, purchases and sales are recognized on the trade date (the 
date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset). Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value with applicable transaction costs 
immediately recognized in the income statement. All other financial assets are initially 
recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets are derecognized when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the 
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently recognized at fair value. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments 
are recognized at amortized cost determined using the effective interest method. Realized and 
unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss’ category are recognized in the income statement in the period they 
arise. Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of non-monetary 
securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are recognized in OCI. When these 
securities are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustment is reclassified to the 
income statement and recognized as part of gains and losses from investment securities. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet, 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If current bid prices are 
not available, fair value is determined using other information such as that derived from the 
market prices of other similar instruments, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing 
models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances. 
 
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities 
classified as available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the securities are 
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss  
recognized in OCI (measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or 
loss) is reclassified to the income statement. 
 

  
 Inventories (2.9) Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using 

the standard cost method with variances capitalized at acquisition and production and 
recognized in the income statement together with the standard cost of inventory at time of 
sale. Standard costs are annually reviewed and updated in light of current conditions. Cost 
determined under this method approximates cost determined under the FIFO method. 
 

  
 Trade receivables (2.10) Trade receivables (see the loans and receivables category of financial assets in note  (2.8) 

above) are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, less an adjustment for impairment. The amount of the adjustment 
for impairment is based on both an individual assessment according to known circumstances 
of specific trade receivables and a collective assessment using an aging calculation applied to 
all trade receivables, excluding those individually assessed, that are ‘past due’ more than 31 
days. 
 

  
 Cash and cash equivalents (2.11) Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other 

short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 
 

  
 Borrowings (2.12) Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 

are subsequently stated at amortized cost with any difference between the amount at initial 
recognition and the redemption value being recognized in the income statement over the 
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as 
current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
 
The Group capitalizes borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. 
 

  
 Income taxes (2.13) The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the 

income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in OCI or directly in 
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in OCI or directly in equity, respectively. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Current income taxes The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the company and its 
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 

Deferred income taxes Deferred income taxes are provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements. However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted 
for. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been legally enacted or 
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred 
income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred income tax is 
provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
arrangements except where the timing of the reversal of a temporary difference is controlled by 
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 
 

  
 Employee benefits (2.14)  

  
Pension obligations Group companies operate various post-employment schemes, including both defined benefit 

and defined contribution pension plans. These schemes are generally funded through 
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds, determined by periodic 
(every one to three years) actuarial valuations. 
 

Long-service benefits Some Group companies provide jubilee and other similar long-service benefits. The entitlement 
to these benefits is usually conditional on the completion of a minimum service period. The 
expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment using an 
accounting methodology similar to that used for defined benefit pension plans. 
 

Variable compensation The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for variable compensation based on changes 
in key financial results, such as sales, operating profit, net income and capital employed as 
specified in the employment contracts. 
 

  
 Provisions (2.15) Major types of provisions recognized by the Group include provisions for warranty service 

costs, restructuring costs, product liability and legal claims. Provisions for restructuring costs 
mostly comprise expected lease termination penalties and employee termination benefit 
payments. Where provisions relate to a number of similar obligations, such as provisions for 
warranty service costs, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is then recognized 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of 
obligations may be low. 
 

  
 Trade and other payables (2.16) Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
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 Revenue recognition (2.17) Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized in the income statement when the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, the revenue can be reliably 
measured and the payment is reasonably assured. Revenue from services rendered is 
recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet 
date. Revenue from sales of goods under finance leases is recognized in the periods the leases 
commence and the applicable interest income is recognized on an actuarial basis over the 
lease term. All revenues from sales of goods and services rendered are recognized at normal 
selling price less applicable trade discounts and rebates. Revenue from operating leases is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 

  
 Dividend distributions (2.18) Dividend distributions to the Hilti Corporation’s shareholders are recognized as liabilities in the 

Group’s financial statements in the periods in which the dividends are approved by the 
Corporation’s shareholders. 
 

  
 Financial risk management (2.19) The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency 

risk, interest rate risk and other price risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall 
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses 
derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. 
 
Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Corporate Treasury) under 
policies approved by the Board of Directors. Corporate Treasury identifies, evaluates and 
hedges certain financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board 
provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering 
specific areas, such as the use of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments, 
managing market risk, credit risk and investing excess liquidity. 
 

Market risk Currency risk 
 
The Group operates globally and is exposed to risk arising from various currency exposures. 
Currency risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognized assets and liabilities and 
net investments in foreign operations. 
 
Currency risk arising from future operating transactions (sales and purchases of goods and 
services) and recognized assets and liabilities is managed by Corporate Treasury using 
hedging instruments, primarily forward contracts. Corporate Treasury’s general risk 
management practice is to hedge between 50% and 100% of the Group’s anticipated net cash 
inflows or outflows in each major foreign currency for the subsequent 12 months. For hedge 
accounting purposes, forward contracts are designated against the relevant amounts of 
projected intercompany sales by the parent company and 100% (2015: 100%) of projected 
sales qualify as ‘highly probable’ forecast transactions. 
 
Currency risks arising from net investments in foreign operations are only hedged in 
exceptional cases. 
 
Currency exposures arising from open balances with third parties and/or Group companies in 
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, and bonds are reduced through the 
natural hedging (currency matching) of these items as well as managed using hedging 
instruments. Currency exposures arising from cash and cash equivalents are reduced by 
limiting non-Swiss franc denominated investments to the main currencies of the operative 
business of the Group and by limiting the proportions of investments in these currencies. 
 
 
 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, if the Swiss franc had strengthened/weakened by 10% against the US dollar, 
euro and all other currencies with all other variables held constant, net income for the year 
would have been affected as follows: 

 
in CHF million Swiss franc 

strengthened (+10%) 
Swiss franc  

weakened (–10%) 
  2016 2015 2016 2015 

     USD (1.8) (2.3) 1.8 2.3 
EUR 1.4 4.2 (1.4) (4.2) 
All other currencies (3.2) (2.8) 3.2 2.8 

 
These effects result from the translation of monetary asset and liability positions held in foreign 
currencies and from derivative contracts to hedge these foreign currency risks and do not 
include any effects of foreign currency transactions during the year. 

 
At December 31, if the Swiss franc had strengthened/weakened by 10% against the US dollar, 
euro and all other currencies with all other variables held constant, OCI would have been 
affected as follows: 

 
in CHF million Swiss franc 

strengthened (+10%) 
Swiss franc  

weakened (–10%) 
  2016 2015 2016 2015 

     USD 2.3 2.1 (2.3) (2.1) 
EUR – – – – 
All other currencies 6.4 6.8 (6.4) (6.8) 

 
These effects result from changes in the values (due to the respective Swiss franc movements) 
of CHF derivative contracts held to hedge foreign currency risk. 

 
Interest rate risk 

 
The Group has investments in interest-bearing assets, mainly deposits and long-term 
borrowings, mostly consisting of bonds the Group itself has issued. Interest-bearing assets 
and borrowings subject to variable rates or held for trading expose the Group to cash flow 
interest rate risk. Interest-bearing assets and borrowings subject to fixed rates and not held for 
trading expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. 

 
Virtually all the Group’s interest-bearing assets are subject to variable rates or are reported at 
fair value through profit or loss because they are held for trading. All the Group’s bond 
liabilities are reported at amortized cost. The interest-bearing assets are denominated primarily 
in Swiss franc and euro investments and the bond liabilities are effectively denominated in a 
combination of Swiss franc and euro. Interest rate risk arising from long-term financing 
(banking and capital market) liabilities is managed by Corporate Treasury by using hedging 
instruments, primarily interest rate swaps. Corporate Treasury’s general risk management 
practice is to hedge between 40% and 60% of the Group’s relevant interest exposure. 

 
Based on December 31 levels of borrowings subject to variable rates and interest-bearing 
assets subject to variable rates or held for trading, an increase/decrease of one hundred basis 
points would have affected net income as follows:  
in CHF million Increase of one 

hundred basis points 
Decrease of one 

hundred basis points 
  2016 2015 2016 2015 

     All currencies 8.3 7.7 (8.3) (7.7) 
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Separate simulations of the impact of interest rate changes on each of the Swiss franc, euro 
and US dollar investment holdings have not been completed since an increase/decrease of 
one hundred basis points is considered reasonably possible for each of the three currencies. 

 
Due to interest rate derivatives, OCI would have been impacted as follows: 

 
in CHF million Increase of one 

hundred basis points 
Decrease of one 

hundred basis points 
  2016 2015 2016 2015 

     CHF (7.2) (7.4) 7.2 7.4 
 

Credit risk Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Virtually all credit risk arises from cash and cash 
equivalents (which primarily consist of demand deposits with first-class financial institutions) 
and from trade receivables (which represent credit exposures to customers). 
 
The Group has significant concentrations of credit risk arising from its investments in cash and 
cash equivalents. These concentrations relate to demand deposits with banking institutions. 
For all major counterparty banking institutions a minimum credit rating of ‘A’ is required. The 
Group regularly reviews the counterparties’ creditworthiness based on the ratings issued by 
Standard & Poor’s. Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these 
counterparties. 
 
For trade receivables, the Group has policies in place to ensure that credit sales of products 
are made to customers with appropriate credit histories. In addition, an active credit 
management focus is maintained in all the Group’s market organizations to ensure that the 
impact of credit risk is minimized. Details of the impairment estimates of trade receivables are 
given in note (14). The Group has no significant concentrations of corresponding credit risk 
with trade receivables. 
 

Liquidity risk Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating companies of the Group and aggregated 
by Corporate Treasury. Corporate Treasury monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity 
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining 
sufficient headroom on its undrawn established borrowing facilities at all times so that the 
Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where applicable) on any of its 
borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into consideration the Group’s debt financing 
plans, covenant compliance, compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets and, if 
applicable, external regulatory or legal requirements – for example currency restrictions. 
 
Surplus cash held by the operating companies over and above the balance required for 
working capital management is transferred to Corporate Treasury. Corporate Treasury 
deposits surplus cash in current accounts and time deposits, choosing instruments with 
appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient headroom as determined by 
the above-mentioned forecasts. At the reporting date, the Group held liquid funds of 
CHF 1,113.8 million (2015: CHF 1,046.2 million) that they are expected to preserve capital 
while managing liquidity risk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The table below analyzes the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the periods from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows including 
future interest payments: 

 
in CHF million Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

Over 5 years 

          
At December 31, 2016         
Borrowings 209.4  122.9  58.6  103.8  
Finance lease liabilities 0.1  0.5  0.6  – 
Trade and other payables 377.2  3.6  4.7  12.5  

 
in CHF million Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

Over 5 years 

          
At December 31, 2015         
Borrowings 107.2 143.8  160.3  105.7  
Finance lease liabilities 0.2  0.4  0.3  0.3  
Trade and other payables 355.6  6.2  5.6  13.4  

 
Most of the non-trading Group’s gross or net settled derivative financial instruments are in 
hedge relationships and are due to be settled gross or net within 12 months of the balance 
sheet date. These contracts require undiscounted contractual cash inflows of CHF 560.8 
million (2015: CHF 501.4 million) and undiscounted contractual cash outflows of CHF 577.1 
million (2015: CHF 519.9 million). All of the non-trading Group’s derivative financial instruments 
are in hedge relationships and are disclosed in note (16). 

 
 

 Capital structure risk (2.20)
management 

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to add sustainable value for investors 
while ensuring the independence of the Group. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group maintains a flexible dividend policy within the limits of its overall finance 
policies. 
 
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the equity ratio measured as equity in percentage 
of total equity and liabilities. The Group views a high equity ratio as the basis for ensuring 
security, capability of taking risk, independence, flexibility and creditworthiness. The Group’s 
objective is to maintain a sufficiently high equity ratio primarily to ensure independence from 
the influence of external creditors as well as to maintain a high external credit rating to help 
minimize the cost of debt if and when further debt is issued. 
 
The Group’s policy is to maintain a minimum equity ratio of 50% on a mid-term basis. 
Following is equity ratio information at the balance sheet date:  
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Total equity 2,512.2 2,271.5  
Total equity and liabilities 4,714.2 4,406.8  
Total equity in % Total equity and liabilities 53.3% 51.5% 

 
Based on the Group’s credit profile and outlook as assessed by the Credit Suisse Banking 
Group during 2016 on the basis of the Group’s 2015 Financial Report a credit rating of ‘High A 
stable’ was assigned (2015: ‘High A stable’) (see Credit Suisse: Swiss Corporate Credit 
Handbook August 2016). 
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 Fair value estimation (2.21) The table below analyzes financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The 

different levels have been defined as follows: 
 

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). 
• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 
prices) (level 2). 

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs) (level 3). 

 
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value: 

 
in CHF million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 
        

At December 31, 2016       
 Assets         

Financial assets at fair value through profit and 
loss 23.5  – – 23.5  
Derivatives used for hedging – 12.9  – 12.9  
          
Liabilities         
Derivatives used for hedging – 11.2  – 11.2  

 

in CHF million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     At December 31, 2015 
    Assets 
    Financial assets at fair value through profit and 

loss 34.0  – – 34.0  
Derivatives used for hedging – 10.6  – 10.6  
          
Liabilities         
Derivatives used for hedging – 8.9  – 8.9  

 
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year. 
 

 
 Accounting for derivative (2.22)

financial instruments and  
hedging activities 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting 
gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if 
so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as one of: 
 

• hedges of the fair value of recognized assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair 
value hedges); 

• hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges) and 
• hedges of net investments in foreign operations (net investment hedges). 

 
At the inception of the transaction the Group documents the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at 
hedge inception and at each external reporting date, of whether the derivatives that are used in 
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of 
hedged items. 
 
The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in 
note  (16). 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Critical accounting estimates and judgments (3)
 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom 
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 

 Trade receivables (3.1)
 
Losses on trade receivables are recognized when they are incurred, which requires management’s best estimate of probable losses. 
Such estimates require consideration of historical loss experience, adjusted for current conditions, and judgments about the probable 
effects of relevant observable data, including financial health of specific customers and market sectors or collateral values. Detailed 
information concerning trade receivables is given in note (14). 
 

 Inventories (3.2)
 
Write-downs of inventories are recognized for particular items when net realizable value falls below cost. The determination of net 
realizable value is made using a valuation process based on the aging of items with aging parameters set based on estimates of 
historical loss experience. This process assumes a linear realizable value reduction based on age which might not always be reflective 
of market behavior. Detailed information concerning inventories is given in note (13). 
 

 Impairment of intangible assets; property, plant and equipment; and investment property (3.3)
 
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to amortization and are tested 
annually for impairment. Other intangible assets; property, plant and equipment; and investment property are reviewed for impairment 
annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognized for the amount by which an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash flows (cash-generating units). 
 

 Employee benefits (3.4)
 
The status of various defined benefit plans depends on long-term actuarial assumptions that may differ from actual future 
developments. The calculation of the discount rate, future increases in salaries/wages and pensions, and mortality are important 
assumptions in actuarial valuations. Detailed information concerning the defined benefit plans is given in note (22). 
 

 Income taxes (3.5)
 
The measurement of current and deferred income tax liabilities or assets is dependent on the interpretation of income tax laws and 
regulations in the respective countries. Additionally, in tax audits the judgment made by management and tax consultants is finally 
checked and adapted. As a consequence deviations between the initial assumptions and the final determination of income taxes may 
lead to material changes to current or deferred income tax expense of the period in which income tax is definite. Furthermore, the 
recognition of deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards depends on the probability of future taxable profits of Group companies. 
Several internal and external factors are used in the estimation of such future profits. Detailed information concerning income taxes is 
given in notes (11) and (36). 
 

 Other critical accounting estimates and judgments (3.6)
 
In the ordinary course of business, the company is or may be involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings, including 
product liability, commercial, environmental, health and safety matters, etc. The company is currently not aware of any such matter 
that either individually or in the aggregate could likely have a material adverse effect on the company’s future financial position or 
results of operations.  
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 Early adoption of IFRS requirements (4)
 
During 2016, the Group has not early adopted the requirements of the following IFRS standards, which at December 31, 2016, have 
been issued but are not effective for the 2016 Group Financial Statements. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, 
when they become effective. 

Standard/ 
Amendment to 
Standard 

Effective date  Content Importance for the Group 

IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
and IAS 28 
Investments in 
Associates and Joint 
Ventures 
(Amendments) 

Date to be 
determined 
by IASB 

These amendments address an inconsistency between 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 

No significant impact is expected. 

IAS 7 Statement of 
Cash Flows 
(Amendments) 

January 1, 
2017 

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are 
part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and require an 
entity to provide disclosures that enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. 

No significant impact is expected. 

IAS 12 Income Taxes 
(Amendments) 

January 1, 
2017 

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider 
whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits 
against which it may make deductions on the reversal of 
that deductible temporary difference. 

The Group is currently assessing 
the impact of IAS 12. A low 
impact is expected. 

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments  

January 1, 
2018 

The final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces 
IAS 39. The standard introduces new requirements for 
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed 
measurement model and establishes three primary 
measurement categories for financial assets: amortized 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
(OCI) and fair value through profit or loss (P&L). For 
financial liabilities there were no changes to classification 
and measurement except for the recognition of changes 
in own credit risk in OCI, for liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit or loss. 

The Group is currently assessing 
the impact of IFRS 9. A low 
impact is expected. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers 

January 1, 
2018 

This is the converged standard on revenue recognition. It 
replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue 
and related interpretations. The principles in IFRS 15 
provide a more structured approach to measuring and 
recognizing revenue by using a five-step model. Revenue 
is recognized when a customer obtains control of a good 
or service. A customer obtains control when it has the 
ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits from 
the good or service. 

The Group is currently assessing 
the impact of IFRS 15. A 
moderate impact is expected. 

IFRS 16 Leases January 1, 
2019 

IFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognized 
on the balance sheet, as the distinction between 
operating and finance leases for lessees has been 
removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to 
use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay lease 
payments are recognized. Short-term and low-value 
leases may be exempted. 

The Group is currently assessing 
the impact of IFRS 16. A 
significant impact is expected. 
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 Business combinations and transactions with non-controlling interests (5)
 

 Business combinations (5.1)
 
There were no material business combinations during the reporting period. 
 

 Transactions with non-controlling interests (5.2)
 
During 2015 and 2016 there were no transactions with non-controlling interests. 
 

 Financial assets and liabilities (6)
 
Financial assets and liabilities listed according to the measurement categories identified under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and measurement and the corresponding balance sheet items are as follows:  
in CHF million Corresponding balance sheet item(s) 2016 2015 
        
Financial assets       
Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,  
derivative financial instruments  26.6 36.5 

Derivatives used for hedging Derivative financial instruments  9.8 8.1 

Loans and receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents, other financial investments,  
trade and other receivables 2,620.3 2,443.7 

Total financial assets   2,656.7 2,488.3 
        
Financial liabilities       
Financial liabilities at fair value through  
profit or loss Derivative financial instruments  9.9 6.0 
Derivatives used for hedging Derivative financial instruments  1.3 2.9 
Financial liabilities measured at  
amortized cost 

Bonds, long-term bank borrowings, trade and other payables, 
short-term bank borrowings 873.1 871.8 

Total financial liabilities   884.3 880.7 
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 Intangible assets (7) 
in CHF million Goodwill Develop- 

ment costs 
Other  
intangible 
assets 

Total 

          
Cost 2016         
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 94.2 675.0 164.2 933.4 
Currency translation adjustment (2.7) – (1.1) (3.8) 
Change in scope of consolidation (91.5) – (43.2) (134.7) 
Additions – 138.5 10.3 148.8 
Disposals – (61.5) (4.6) (66.1) 
Transfers – (0.2) 0.2 – 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 – 751.8 125.8 877.6 
          
Accumulated amortization 2016         
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 (77.8) (305.5) (139.6) (522.9) 
Currency translation adjustment 2.4 – 0.6 3.0 
Change in scope of consolidation 75.4 – 32.4 107.8 
Additions – (51.0) (6.2) (57.2) 
Impairment losses – (2.1) – (2.1) 
Disposals – 61.5 4.0 65.5 
Transfers – – – – 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 – (297.1) (108.8) (405.9) 
          
Net book values at December 31, 2016 – 454.7 17.0 471.7 
 
in CHF million Goodwill Develop- 

ment costs 
Other 
intangible 
assets 

Total 

          
Cost 2015         
Opening balance at January 1, 2015 93.7 585.8 189.8 869.3 
Currency translation adjustment 0.5 – (2.6) (2.1) 
Additions – 110.0 3.6 113.6 
Disposals – (20.8) (26.6) (47.4) 
Closing balance at December 31, 2015 94.2 675.0 164.2 933.4 
          
Accumulated amortization 2015         
Opening balance at January 1, 2015 (77.3) (279.5) (152.0) (508.8) 
Currency translation adjustment (0.5) – 1.9 1.4 
Additions – (45.9) (15.7) (61.6) 
Impairment losses – (0.9) – (0.9) 
Disposals – 20.8 26.2 47.0 
Closing balance at December 31, 2015 (77.8) (305.5) (139.6) (522.9) 
          
Net book values at December 31, 2015 16.4 369.5 24.6 410.5 
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Of intangible assets, only development costs are internally generated, all other intangible assets are acquired. Other intangible assets 
consist mainly of patents, brands, customer lists and database/application software licenses. Additions to accumulated amortization 
and impairment losses are included in depreciation and amortization (see note (32)). 
 
In 2015 the goodwill balance of CHF 16.4 million related entirely to Unirac Inc., which was sold during 2016. This sale also included 
CHF 10.8 million of other intangible assets. 
 

 Property, plant and equipment (8) 
in CHF million Land and 

buildings 
Plant and 
machinery 

Other 
operating 
assets 

Assets 
under con- 
struction 

Total 

 
          

Cost 2016           
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 852.0 782.8 516.1 31.4 2,182.3 
Currency translation adjustment (6.0) (7.0) (0.4) (0.2) (13.6) 
Change in scope of consolidation – (4.7) (3.0) – (7.7) 
Additions 26.9  30.3  46.8  36.1  140.1 
Disposals (62.1) (17.1) (36.0) – (115.2) 
Other transfers 9.6  11.4  15.9  (36.9) – 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 820.4 795.7 539.4 30.4 2,185.9 
            
Accumulated depreciation 2016           
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 (377.3) (629.4) (396.6) – (1,403.3) 
Currency translation adjustment 2.8 5.2 1.0 – 9.0 
Change in scope of consolidation – 4.0 2.8 – 6.8 
Additions (19.8) (36.8) (40.4) – (97.0) 
Impairment losses – (0.1) – – (0.1) 
Disposals 61.6 15.2 34.7 – 111.5 
Other transfers – (1.8) 1.8 – – 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 (332.7) (643.7) (396.7) – (1,373.1) 
            
Net book values at December 31, 2016 487.7 152.0 142.7 30.4 812.8 
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in CHF million Land and 

buildings 
Plant and 
machinery 

Other 
operating 
assets 

Assets 
under con- 
struction 

Total 

 
          

Cost 2015           
Opening balance at January 1, 2015 766.1 807.0 526.0 151.3 2,250.4 
Currency translation adjustment (37.9) (37.7) (36.3) (2.4) (114.3) 
Additions 32.2 20.9 32.8 46.6 132.5 
Disposals (39.1) (19.1) (28.1) – (86.3) 
Other transfers 130.7 11.7 21.7 (164.1) – 
Closing balance at December 31, 2015 852.0 782.8 516.1 31.4 2,182.3 
            
Accumulated depreciation 2015           
Opening balance at January 1, 2015 (405.4) (639.2) (413.9) – (1,458.5) 
Currency translation adjustment 17.3 28.2 27.5 – 73.0 
Additions (20.7) (36.5) (37.0) – (94.2) 
Impairment losses – (0.3) – – (0.3) 
Disposals 31.5 18.1 27.1 – 76.7 
Other transfers – 0.3 (0.3) – – 
Closing balance at December 31, 2015 (377.3) (629.4) (396.6) – (1,403.3) 
            
Net book values at December 31, 2015 474.7 153.4 119.5 31.4 779.0 
 
Other operating assets consist mainly of office equipment, testing instruments, leasehold improvements and vehicles. 
 
Capital expenditure, shown as additions to cost, relates primarily to manufacturing facilities enhancements and extensions of sales 
organizations. Additions to accumulated depreciation are included in ‘depreciation and amortization’ (see note  (32)). 
 

 Investment property (9) 
The Group has no material investment property. 
 

 Investments in associates and joint ventures (10)
 
The Group has no new ownership interests in associates or joint ventures during the reporting period. 
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 Deferred income taxes (11)
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The net book values are as follows:  
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Recovery of deferred tax balances     
More than 1 year 7.0  7.3  
Less than 1 year 103.0  106.6  
Total 110.0  113.9  
      
Components of deferred tax balances     
Inventories 58.8  60.1  
Fixed and intangible assets 16.6  18.4  
Provisions and employee benefits 105.8  98.5  
Receivables (114.8) (99.4) 
Tax losses 12.8  5.4  
Other 30.8  30.9  
Total 110.0  113.9  
   
of which recognized as deferred tax assets 158.3  143.7  
of which recognized as deferred tax liabilities (48.3) (29.8) 
 
The movements in net deferred tax assets (liabilities) during the reporting period are as follows:  
in CHF million Inventories Fixed and 

intangible  
assets 

Provisions 
and 
employee 
benefits 

Receivables Tax 
losses 

Other Total 

 
              

Net deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)               
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 60.1  18.4  98.5  (99.4) 5.4  30.9  113.9  
Changes in scope of consolidation – 4.4  – – – (1.6) 2.8  
(Charged)/credited to income statement (2.4) (5.6) (0.2) (16.5) 7.1  0.9  (16.7) 
(Charged)/credited to OCI – – 8.0  – – – 8.0  
Currency translation adjustment 1.1  (0.6) (0.5) 1.1  0.3  0.6  2.0  
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 58.8  16.6  105.8  (114.8) 12.8  30.8  110.0  

                
                

Opening balance at January 1, 2015 69.0  26.8  93.4  (96.4) 3.9  26.6  123.3  
Changes in scope of consolidation – – – – – – – 
(Charged)/credited to income statement (5.5) (2.9) 5.3  (12.6) 2.1  5.4  (8.2) 
(Charged)/credited to OCI – – 3.9  – – – 3.9  
Currency translation adjustment (3.4) (5.5) (4.1) 9.6  (0.6) (1.1) (5.1) 
Closing balance at December 31, 2015 60.1  18.4  98.5  (99.4) 5.4  30.9  113.9  
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The category inventories includes the tax effects of temporary differences arising on unrealized intercompany profits, as well as those 
arising on differences between tax and accounting treatment regarding inventory measurements at the legal entity. The category fixed 
and intangible assets includes the tax effects of temporary differences arising both on intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment. The category provisions and employee benefits includes items charged/credited to OCI which are tax effects of temporary 
differences arising on remeasurements on defined benefit pension plans. The category receivables includes tax effects on temporary 
differences arising on fleet management sales/receivables due to the different treatment in some tax legislations (operating lease) and 
IFRS (finance lease), as well as on differences between tax and accounting treatment regarding receivable measurements at the legal 
entity. The category ‘other’ mainly includes tax effects on temporary differences arising on accruals and financial instruments. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carryforwards to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit through 
future taxable profits is probable. Details are as follows:  
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Tax loss carryforwards recognized in deferred tax 53.4  25.5  
Unused tax loss carryforwards 77.3  66.7  
Total tax loss carryforwards 130.7  92.2  
   
Expiration of unused tax loss carryforwards:     
Expiration < 1 year 2.4  11.8  
Expiration > 1 year or no expiration date 74.9  54.9  
      
Tax effect of unused tax loss carryforwards 24.2  17.8  
Unremitted earnings subject to withholding tax or other taxes 132.6  551.5  
 
Deferred income tax liabilities have not been recognized for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the 
unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries totaling CHF 132.6 million (2015: CHF 551.5 million). Such amounts are permanently re-
invested. 
 

 Other financial investments (12) 
Other financial investments are recognized at amortized cost. These comprise mainly long-term loans granted to third parties, deposits 
(e.g. in respect of rented premises) and other investments in equities. 
 
In 2016 the fair value of other financial investments with a maturity < 5 years is CHF 3.0 million (2015: CHF 3.7 million) and > 5 years is 
CHF 8.1 million (2015: CHF 12.3 million). 
 

 Inventories (13) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Raw materials 47.0 48.5 
Work in progress 8.2 8.5 
Finished goods 487.3 471.4 
Total inventories 542.5 528.4 
 
The change in inventories includes a currency translation adjustment which increases the inventories by CHF 2.8 million in 2016. This 
is due to the change in closing rates in 2016 compared to those in 2015. 
 
The allowance made for possible inventory losses due to age and obsolescence totals CHF 39.9 million (2015: CHF 39.2 million). The 
change in the allowance recognized in the income statement is CHF -0.9 million (2015: CHF 0.9 million). This change is included in the 
line ‘change in inventory’. 
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 Trade and other receivables (14) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Trade receivables 1,502.1 1,374.7 
Less adjustment for impairment of trade receivables (105.8) (100.1) 
Trade receivables net 1,396.3 1,274.6 
Other receivables 99.2 106.9 
Total trade and other receivables 1,495.5 1,381.5 
      
Current portion 1,014.2 959.0 
Non-current portion 481.3 422.5 
Total trade and other receivables 1,495.5 1,381.5 
      
Maturity of non-current portion     
1 to < 2 years 243.2 213.2 
2 to < 3 years 149.8 131.3 
3 to < 4 years 63.8 55.9 
4 to < 5 years 13.0 14.7 
>= 5 years 11.5 7.4 
Total non-current trade and other receivables 481.3 422.5 
      
Past due aging of gross trade receivables not determined to be impaired     
Past due 1–31 days 97.5 85.8 
      
Aging of gross trade receivables individually determined to be impaired     
Not due 3.1 3.8 
Past due 1–90 days 4.5 5.7 
Past due 91–180 days 5.8 6.1 
Past due 181–360 days 9.4 10.7 
Past due > 360 days 41.0 32.9 
Uncollectible notes 0.6 0.5 
Total aging of gross trade receivables individually determined to be impaired 64.4 59.7 
 

in CHF million 2016 2015 

   Movements in the adjustment for the impairment of trade receivables   
 Opening balance of adjustment for the impairment of trade receivables at January 1 100.1 108.3 

Additional impairment adjustment charged to income statement during year 35.3 24.0 
Write-offs of trade receivables charged to impairment adjustment account during year (29.6) (32.2) 
Closing balance of adjustment for the impairment of trade receivables at December 31 105.8 100.1 
    

 Currency denominations of the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables   
 EUR 699.8 632.9 

USD 191.6 174.0 
Other 604.1 574.6 
Total trade and other receivables 1,495.5 1,381.5 
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The change in trade and other receivables includes a currency translation adjustment which decreases the trade and other receivables 
by CHF 5.4 million in 2016 (2015: CHF 106.0 million). This is due to the change in closing rates in 2016 compared to those in 2015. 
 
The net change in the adjustment for the impairment of trade receivables is recognized in the income statement in the line ‘other 
operating expenses’. 
 
Receivables totaling CHF 166.9 million (2015: CHF 207.2 million) serve as security for bank borrowings of CHF 59.8 million (2015: CHF 
81.7 million) (see notes (24) and (28)). 
 
Other receivables primarily consist of VAT and tax refunds receivables totaling CHF 38.3 million (2015: CHF 38.7 million), deposits 
totaling CHF 21.4 million (2015: CHF 17.4 million), advances totaling CHF 7.2 million (2015: CHF 18.0 million) and vendors with debit 
balances totaling CHF 8.9 million (2015: CHF 7.6 million). 
 
Details of the finance lease receivables included in trade receivables are as follows:   
in CHF million 2016 2015 

  

Gross 
investment 
in the lease 

Unearned 
finance 
income 

Net 
investment 
in the lease 

Gross 
investment 
in the lease 

Unearned 
finance 
income 

Net 
investment 
in the lease 

       < 1 year 399.3 56.8 342.5 358.3 51.8 306.5 
1 to < 5 years 513.0 47.0 466.0 449.5 42.0 407.5 
>= 5 years 0.1 – 0.1 0.1 – 0.1 
Total at December 31 912.4 103.8 808.6 807.9 93.8 714.1 

   
  

   Accumulated allowance for uncollectible finance lease receivables (24.9)     (25.8) 
 

 Accrued income and prepayments (15)
 
Accrued income and prepayments cover mainly prepayments for property, plant and equipment and prepaid operating expenditure to 
be allocated as expense in the next accounting period. 
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 Derivative financial instruments (16)
 

 Derivative contracts to hedge the foreign currency risks (16.1)
 
The Group enters into derivative contracts to hedge the foreign currency risks arising from forecasted foreign currency sales and 
purchases transactions and foreign currency investment positions. The applicable derivative contracts are designated as cash flow, 
fair value and net investment hedges, respectively. The accounting treatment is described in the accounting policies, notes (2.21) and 
(2.22). Details of derivative contracts outstanding at the balance sheet date are as follows:  
in CHF million USD EUR Other Total 

 
        

2016         
Contract face amounts 

   
  

Foreign currency forward contracts 290.8 10.7 244.9 546.4 
          
Contract values 

   
  

Foreign currency forward contracts (9.4) 0.1 4.0 (5.3) 
          
Recognition of contract values         
Contract values recognized in income statement during current and prior years (8.9) 0.1 1.8 (7.0) 
Contract values recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve in equity (0.8) – 2.2 1.4 
Contract values from net investment hedge recognized in foreign currency 
translation reserve 0.3 – – 0.3 
Total (9.4) 0.1 4.0 (5.3) 
  

   
  

Movements of contract values recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve 
in equity 

   
  

Opening balance at January 1 (0.5) – (1.5) (2.0) 
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken to equity (0.8) – 2.2 1.4 
(Gains)/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity to income statement 0.5 – 1.5 2.0 
Closing balance at December 31 (0.8) – 2.2 1.4 
  

   
  

Movements of contract values recognized in the net investment hedge (CTA) 
   

  
Opening balance at January 1 – – – – 
Gains/(losses) on net investment hedge taken to equity (CTA) (1.5) – – (1.5) 
Closing balance at December 31 (1.5) – – (1.5) 
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in CHF million USD EUR Other Total 
          
2015 

    Contract face amounts 
    Foreign currency forward contracts 215.7 16.2 250.7 482.6 

        
 Contract values 

    Foreign currency forward contracts (4.0) 0.1 (1.6) (5.5) 
        

 Recognition of contract values 
    Contract values recognized in income statement during current and prior years (3.5) 0.1 (0.1) (3.5) 

Contract values recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve in equity (0.5) – (1.5) (2.0) 
Total (4.0) 0.1 (1.6) (5.5) 
        

 Movements of contract values recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve  
in equity 

    Opening balance at January 1 (1.1) – 1.5 0.4 
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken to equity (0.5) – (1.5) (2.0) 
(Gains)/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity to income statement 1.1 – (1.5) (0.4) 
Closing balance at December 31 (0.5) – (1.5) (2.0) 
 
There was no ineffectiveness to be recognized in the income statement. 
 
All contracts have a maturity of less than 12 months. 
  

 Derivative contracts to hedge interest rate risks (16.2)
 
The Group enters into derivative contracts to hedge the interest rate risks arising from loans with variable interest rates. The applicable 
derivative contracts are designated as cash flow hedges. Gains and losses recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve in equity on 
interest rate swap contracts will be continuously released to the income statement until the repayment of the bank borrowings. The 
accounting treatment is described in the accounting policies, notes (2.21) and (2.22). Details of the contract outstanding at balance 
sheet date is as follows:  
in CHF million CHF USD EUR Total 
          
2016 

   
  

Outstanding interest rate swaps 
   

  
Contract face amounts 60.0 – – 60.0 
          
Recognition of contract values 

   
  

Contract values recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve in equity 7.0 – – 7.0 
          
Movements of contract values recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve  
in equity 

   
  

Opening balance at January 1 7.2 – – 7.2 
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken to equity 1.3 – – 1.3 
(Gains)/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity to income statement (1.5) – – (1.5) 
Closing balance at December 31 7.0 – – 7.0 
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in CHF million CHF USD EUR Total 

     2015 
    Outstanding interest rate swaps 
    Contract face amounts 60.0 – – 60.0 

          
Recognition of contract values 

    Contract values recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve in equity 7.2 – – 7.2 
          
Movements of contract values recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve  
in equity 

    Opening balance at January 1 5.9 (0.1) – 5.8 
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken to equity 2.6 – – 2.6 
(Gains)/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity to income statement (1.3) 0.1 – (1.2) 
Closing balance at December 31 7.2 – – 7.2 
 
The fixed interest rate is 1.9% (2015: 1.9% to 3.4%) and the floating rate is LIBOR. 
 
 

 Reconciliations (16.3) 
in CHF million Foreign 

currency 
risks 

Interest  
rate risks 

Total 

 
      

2016       
Current assets 5.9 – 5.9 
Non-current assets – 7.0 7.0 
Current liabilities (11.2) – (11.2) 
Non-current liabilities – – – 
Total net book value derivative financial instruments at December 31 (5.3) 7.0 1.7 

 
      

Cash flow hedging reserve in equity 1.4 7.0 8.4 
        
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken to equity 1.4 1.3 2.7 
(Gains)/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity to income statement 2.0 (1.5) 0.5 

   
  

Movements of contract values recognized in the net investment hedge (CTA)       
Opening balance at January 1 – – – 
Gains/(losses) on net investment hedge taken to equity (CTA) (1.5) – (1.5) 
Closing balance at December 31 (1.5) – (1.5) 
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in CHF million Foreign 
currency 
risks 

Interest  
rate risks 

Total 

 
      

2015       
Current assets 3.4 – 3.4 
Non-current assets – 7.2 7.2 
Current liabilities (8.2) – (8.2) 
Non-current liabilities (0.7) – (0.7) 
Total net book value derivative financial instruments at December 31 (5.5) 7.2 1.7 

 
      

Cash flow hedging reserve in equity (2.0) 7.2 5.2 
        
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken to equity (2.0) 2.6 0.6 
(Gains)/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity to income statement (0.4) (1.2) (1.6) 
 
The cash flow hedging reserve in equity net of tax amounts to CHF 7.8 million (2015: CHF 4.5 million). 
 
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally financial institutions with investment 
grade credit ratings of at least A according to Standard & Poor’s. 
 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (17)
 
All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are classified as held for trading. Financial assets under this heading comprise: 
 

• investments in deposits, bonds and equities restricted to (1) the funding of losses arising from damages to assets and losses 
arising from product-related obligations and (2) the funding of a deferred compensation plan for employees and 

• other investments in equities. 
 
These financial assets are all classified as current assets because they are expected to be traded within 12 months of the balance 
sheet date. However, their contractual maturities mostly differ from this position. 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents (18)
 
Cash includes cash on hand and demand deposits. The movement in cash and cash equivalents is shown in detail in the cash flow 
statement. 
 
The Group has legal or economic restrictions on CHF 5.2 million (2015: CHF 14.1 million). 
 

 Assets classified as held for sale (19)
 
At the 2016 and 2015 balance sheet dates no assets are classified as held for sale. 
 

 Equity (20)
 
The share capital consists of 176,000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 500 each and the participation capital consists of 
774,400 participation certificates with a par value of CHF 50 each. The participation capital has no voting rights. All the capital is fully 
paid in and is entitled to dividends. 
 
The capital reserve contains the share premium from capital increases and capital accruing from mergers in previous years. 
 
A dividend in respect of the year ended December 31, 2016, of CHF 96.00 per participation certificate and of CHF 960 per share, 
amounting to a total of CHF 243.3 million (financial year 2015: CHF 205.3 million), is to be proposed at the annual general meeting. 
This future proposed dividend is not recognized in these financial statements. 
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The disaggregation of changes of OCI by each type of reserve in equity is shown below:  
in CHF million Foreign 

currency 
translation 
reserve 

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Non-
controlling 
interests 

Total 

            
2016           
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken to equity – 2.7 – – 2.7 
Deferred tax on gains/losses on cash flow hedges taken to equity – (0.3) – – (0.3) 
(Gains)/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity  
to income statement – 0.5 – – 0.5 
Deferred tax on gains/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity 
to income statement – (0.1) – – (0.1) 
Foreign currency translation differences (3.1) - – 0.1 (3.0) 
Deferred tax on foreign currency translation differences 0.2 – – – 0.2 
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to the income statement (2.9) 2.8 – 0.1 – 
            
Remeasurements on employee benefits – – (43.4) – (43.4) 
Deferred tax on remeasurements on employee benefits – – 8.0 – 8.0 
Items that will never be reclassified to the income statement – – (35.4) – (35.4) 
            
Total other comprehensive income 2016 (2.9) 2.8 (35.4) 0.1 (35.4) 
 
in CHF million Foreign 

currency 
translation 
reserve 

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Non-
controlling 
interests 

Total 

      2015 
     Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken to equity – 0.6 – – 0.6 

Deferred tax on gains/losses on cash flow hedges taken to equity – (0.1) – – (0.1) 
(Gains)/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity  
to income statement – (1.6) – – (1.6) 
Deferred tax on gains/losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity 
to income statement – 0.2 – – 0.2 
Foreign currency translation differences (95.7) – – – (95.7) 
Reclassification adjustments relating to disposals of foreign operations 1.3 – – – 1.3 
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to the income statement (94.4) (0.9) – – (95.3) 
            
Remeasurements on employee benefits – – (41.3) – (41.3) 
Deferred tax on remeasurements on employee benefits – – 3.9 – 3.9 
Items that will never be reclassified to the income statement – – (37.4) – (37.4) 
            
Total other comprehensive income 2015 (94.4) (0.9) (37.4) – (132.7) 
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 Provisions (21) 
in CHF million Warranty Other Total 
        
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 100.1 23.4 123.5 
Additions 89.2 14.5 103.7 
Amounts used (74.8) (6.7) (81.5) 
Unused reversals (2.2) (2.6) (4.8) 
Currency translation adjustment (0.3) (0.1) (0.4) 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 112.0 28.5 140.5 
 
in CHF million Warranty Other Total 
        
Opening balance at January 1, 2015 95.4 35.8 131.2 
Additions 79.6 10.5 90.1 
Amounts used (64.8) (9.8) (74.6) 
Unused reversals (2.0) (1.0) (3.0) 
Reclassifications to other payables – (11.6) (11.6) 
Currency translation adjustment (8.1) (0.5) (8.6) 
Closing balance at December 31, 2015 100.1 23.4 123.5 
 

in CHF million 2016 2015 

 
    

Current portion of total provisions 70.1 65.1 
Non-current portion of total provisions 70.4 58.4 
Total provisions at December 31 140.5 123.5 
 
Warranty provisions cover normal and extended service warranties on sold products. Outlays in respect of such warranties are 
expected on an ongoing basis. Additions to this provision follow the sales development and the amounts are used with a time lag of 
around one to two years. 
 
Other provisions are amongst others built up for obligations regarding legal claims, product liability, restructuring and job accidents. 
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 Employee benefits (22)
 
Employee benefits creating obligations of the Group to its employees comprise defined benefit plans, other long-term employee 
benefits and short-term employee benefits. The Group also provides employee benefits through defined contribution plans. 
 

Defined benefit plans 
 
Swiss pension plan 
 
The Group’s largest defined benefit pension plan is located in Switzerland: It covers employees of the parent company as well as of 
the Swiss and other Liechtenstein-based Group companies (the ‘Swiss pension plan’). The Swiss pension plan accounts for 79.5% 
(2015: 80.7%) of the Group’s total defined benefit obligation and 87.6% (2015: 86.6%) of the Group’s plan assets. 
 
The Swiss pension plan is funded through a legally separate trustee-administered pension fund. The pension plan is overseen by a 
regulator as well as by a state supervisory body. The pension plan’s most senior governing body (Board of Trustees) must be 
composed of equal numbers of employee and employer representatives. The Board of Trustees is responsible for the investment of 
the assets. When defining the investment strategy, it takes into account the pension fund’s objectives, benefit obligations and risk 
capacity. The investment strategy is defined in the form of a long-term target asset structure (investment policy). The Board of 
Trustees delegates the implementation of the investment policy – in accordance with the investment strategy – to an Investment 
Committee. The cash funding of the plan is designed to ensure that present and future contributions should be sufficient to meet future 
liabilities. Further on, the Board of Trustees is able to adapt the contributions and benefits. There is a stop-loss insurance which covers 
the risk from a certain excess amount (e.g. for disability or death). 
 
The Swiss pension plan contains a cash balance benefit formula and is therefore accounted for as a defined benefit plan. Employer 
and employee contributions are defined in the pension fund rules in terms of an age-related sliding scale of percentages of 
remuneration. Under Swiss law, the pension fund guarantees the vested benefit amount as confirmed annually to members. Interest 
may be added to member balances at the discretion of the Board of Trustees (i.e. 1.25% in 2016 and 1.75% in 2015). At retirement 
date, members have the right to take their retirement benefit as a lump sum, an annuity or part as a lump sum with the remaining 
balance converted to a fixed annuity at the rates defined in the fund rules. The Board of Trustees may change the conversion rate at 
their discretion subject to the plan’s funded status and the requirements of the Swiss Federal Law on Occupational Retirement, 
Survivors’ and Disability Pension Plans (BVG). 
 
Other defined benefit plans 
 
The remaining defined benefit plans are located in Austria, Germany, Great Britain, Italy, Taiwan, France, Japan, Korea and the 
Philippines. Only the last four plans listed are still open for new plan participants. 
 

Other long-term employee benefits 
 
Other long-term employee benefits comprise jubilee and other long-service benefits, a long-term incentive and other long-term 
employee benefits. The relevant period for the long-term incentive is 2016–2018 with payment to be made in 2019. Historically the 
level of outflows concerning other long-term employee benefits (excluding the long-term incentive) has been constant each year. 
 

Short-term employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefits such as short-term variable compensation are included in ‘accrued liabilities and deferred income’ (see 
note (27)). 
 

Defined contribution plans 
 
The employer’s contribution totals CHF 31.2 million (2015: CHF 29.9 million). 
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 Employee benefit obligations (defined benefit plans and other long-term benefits) (22.1) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
  Funded Unfunded Total Funded Unfunded Total 
              
Switzerland             
Fair value of plan assets 819.6  – 819.6  797.9 – 797.9 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (1,142.4) – (1,142.4) (1,120.8) – (1,120.8) 
Net defined benefit (liability)/asset at December 31 (322.8) – (322.8) (322.9) – (322.9) 
              
Other plans             
Fair value of plan assets 115.5  – 115.5  123.5 – 123.5 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (239.8) (55.0) (294.8) (220.1) (47.5) (267.6) 
Net defined benefit (liability)/asset at December 31 (124.3) (55.0) (179.3) (96.6) (47.5) (144.1) 
              
Total             
Fair value of plan assets 935.1  – 935.1  921.4 – 921.4 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (1,382.2) (55.0) (1,437.2) (1,340.9) (47.5) (1,388.4) 
Net defined benefit (liability)/asset at December 31 (447.1) (55.0) (502.1) (419.5) (47.5) (467.0) 
              
Present value of other employee benefits – (86.9) (86.9) – (146.7) (146.7) 
Total net book value employee benefits at December 31 (447.1) (141.9) (589.0) (419.5) (194.2) (613.7) 
 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Current portion of total net book value employee benefits (6.6) (107.7) 
Non-current portion of total net book value employee benefits (582.4) (506.0) 
Total net book value employee benefits (589.0) (613.7) 
 

 Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets (22.2) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
  Switzerland Other plans Total Switzerland Other plans Total 
      

 
      

Opening balance at January 1 797.9  123.5  921.4  786.6 129.9 916.5 
Interest income on plan assets 7.9  4.0  11.9  9.9 4.0 13.9 
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 16.0  1.5  17.5  (2.2) (1.7) (3.9) 
Contributions by employer 22.5  5.3  27.8  22.9 4.0 26.9 
Contributions by plan participants 14.9  0.1  15.0  14.8 0.1 14.9 
Benefits paid (39.6) (4.4) (44.0) (34.1) (5.2) (39.3) 
Settlements – (0.1) (0.1) – (0.2) (0.2) 
Currency translation adjustment – (14.4) (14.4) – (7.4) (7.4) 
Closing balance at December 31 819.6  115.5  935.1  797.9 123.5 921.4 
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 Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation (22.3) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
  Switzerland Other plans Total Switzerland Other plans Total 
      

 
      

Opening balance at January 1 (1,120.8) (267.6) (1,388.4) (1,051.5) (284.9) (1,336.4) 
Current service cost (30.9) (8.0) (38.9) (28.3) (8.5) (36.8) 
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation (11.2) (7.4) (18.6) (13.2) (7.7) (20.9) 
Actuarial gains/(losses) (21.1) (39.8) (60.9) (44.4) 7.0 (37.4) 
Contributions by plan participants (14.9) – (14.9) (14.8) – (14.8) 
Benefits paid 39.6  5.9  45.5  34.1 7.1 41.2 
Past service cost 16.9  1.1  18.0  (2.7) 0.5 (2.2) 
Currency translation adjustment – 21.0  21.0  – 18.9 18.9 
Closing balance at December 31 (1,142.4) (294.8) (1,437.2) (1,120.8) (267.6) (1,388.4) 
 

 Components of defined benefit costs recognized in the income statement (22.4) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
  Switzerland Other plans Total Switzerland Other plans Total 
              
Current service cost (30.9) (8.0) (38.9) (28.3) (8.5) (36.8) 
Past service cost 16.9  1.1  18.0  (2.7) 0.5 (2.2) 
Gains/(losses) on settlements – (0.1) (0.1) – (0.2) (0.2) 
Total service cost (14.0) (7.0) (21.0) (31.0) (8.2) (39.2) 
Interest income on plan assets 7.9  4.0  11.9  9.9 4.0 13.9 
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation (11.2) (7.4) (18.6) (13.2) (7.7) (20.9) 
Net interest income/(expense) on defined benefit plans (3.3) (3.4) (6.7) (3.3) (3.7) (7.0) 
Total defined benefit costs recognized in the  
income statement (17.3) (10.4) (27.7) (34.3) (11.9) (46.2) 
 
In the income statement, the various components of the defined benefit costs are included as follows: 
 

• Total service cost – in ‘personnel expenses’ (see note (31)) and 
• Interest income and expense – in ‘other revenues and expenses (net)’ (see note (34)). 
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 Remeasurements of the net defined benefit (liability)/asset (22.5) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
  Switzerland Other plans Total Switzerland Other plans Total 
      

 
      

Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in demographic 
assumptions 11.0  (0.4) 10.6  – – – 
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in financial 
assumptions (32.1) (40.1) (72.2) (44.4) 5.9 (38.5) 
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from experience adjustments – 0.7  0.7  – 1.1 1.1 
Total actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit obligation (21.1) (39.8) (60.9) (44.4) 7.0 (37.4) 
              
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 16.0  1.5  17.5  (2.2) (1.7) (3.9) 
Total remeasurements recorded in other comprehensive 
income (5.1) (38.3) (43.4) (46.6) 5.3 (41.3) 
 

 Plan asset classes at December 31 (22.6) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 

  
Quoted 
market price 

Non-quoted 
market price 

Total % 
Quoted 
market price 

Non-quoted 
market price 

Total % 

      
  

        
Cash and cash equivalents 88.2  – 88.2  9.4% 75.0 – 75.0 8.1% 
Equity instruments 251.3  – 251.3  26.9% 244.9 – 244.9 26.6% 
Debt instruments (e.g. bonds) 224.2  – 224.2  24.0% 261.3 – 261.3 28.3% 
Real estate 9.3  146.1  155.4  16.6% 8.4 126.7 135.1 14.7% 
Investment funds 84.0  54.2  138.2  14.8% 89.3 51.7 141.0 15.3% 
Others – 77.8  77.8  8.3% – 64.1 64.1 7.0% 
Total plan assets at fair value 657.0  278.1  935.1  100.0% 678.9 242.5 921.4 100.0% 
 
The Group does not make use of any assets held by pension plans. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are primarily invested in money market funds and current accounts with financial institutions that mostly 
have at least an ‘A’ rating. The allocation to cash and cash equivalents of the Swiss pension plan is 10.7% (2015: 9.3%). 
 
Equity instruments represent investments in equity funds and direct investments. They generally have quoted market prices in an 
active market. The allocation to equities of the Swiss pension plan is 27.4% (2015: 27.0%). The pension plans’ assets do not include 
any shares or participation certificates of Hilti Corporation. 
 
Debt instruments (e.g. bonds) generally have a credit rating that is no lower than ‘BBB’, have quoted market prices in an active market 
and are primarily direct investments. The allocation to debt instruments of the Swiss pension plan is 27.3% (2015: 32.8%). 
 
Real estate represents indirect and direct investments in residential and commercial properties. Indirect investments comprise listed 
and unlisted real estate funds, investment foundations and unlisted real estate fund of funds. Direct investments are primarily held in 
residential properties in Liechtenstein. Directly held real estate is periodically valued by an independent expert. The allocation to real 
estate of the Swiss pension plan is 19.0% (2015: 16.9%). 
 
Investment funds represent investments with an insurance company and a mandate with a bank which invests in alternative asset 
classes (e.g. hedge funds and commodities). In case of investment funds, no quoted market prices in an active market are usually 
available. The allocation to investment funds of the Swiss pension plan is 6.1% (2015: 6.0%). 
 
The position ‘others’ primarily includes private equity investments, mezzanine investments and insurance-linked securities, among 
others. Leveraging and short selling is prohibited. No quoted market prices in an active market are usually available. The allocation to 
‘others’ of the Swiss pension plan is 9.5% (2015: 8.0%). 
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 Plan members at December 31 (22.7) 
financial amounts in CHF million 2016 2015 
  Active Deferred Retired Total Active Deferred Retired Total 
        

 
        

Plan members 6,065 910 1,564 8,539 5,922 929 1,526 8,377 
Defined benefit obligation (717.0) (116.8) (603.4) (1,437.2) (689.8) (109.2) (589.4) (1,388.4) 
Share in % 49.9% 8.1% 42.0% 100.0% 49.6% 7.9% 42.5% 100.0% 
Average weighted duration in years 20.8 23.0 12.8 17.6 20.8 23.5 12.8 17.6 
 
The employer’s best estimate of contributions expected to be paid to defined benefit plans for the financial year 2017 is CHF 25.6 
million. 
 

 Actuarial assumptions (22.8)
 
Actuarial assumptions are based on long-term economic factors in the respective countries. Each item of ‘other plans’ is a weighted 
average in relation to the relevant underlying component. The significant assumptions are as follows:  
in % 2016 2015 
  Switzerland Other plans Total Switzerland Other plans Total 
      

 
      

Discount rate 0.75% 2.21% 1.05% 1.00% 2.96% 1.38% 
Future salary increase 1.50% 1.40% 1.48% 1.50% 1.35% 1.47% 
Future pension increase 0.00% 2.20% 0.45% 0.00% 2.17% 0.42% 
 
Life expectancy is reflected in the defined benefit obligations by using mortality tables of the country in which the plan is located. The 
generational tables BVG/LPP 2015 (2015: BVG/LPP 2010) have been used for Switzerland. 
 
In general, the present value of the defined benefit obligations is determined annually by independent actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method. Actuarial assumptions are required for this purpose. 
 
The discount rate, future salary increase and life expectancy were identified as significant actuarial assumptions. The following impacts 
on the defined benefit obligation are to be expected: 
 

• A 0.25% increase/decrease in the discount rate would lead to a decrease/increase of 4.18% in the defined benefit 
obligation. 

• A 0.25% increase/decrease in expected future salaries would lead to an increase/decrease of 0.63% in the defined benefit 
obligation. 

• A one year increase/decrease in life expectancy would lead to an increase/decrease of 2.17% in the defined benefit 
obligation. 

 
The sensitivity analysis is based on realistically possible changes as of the end of the reporting period. Each change in a significant 
actuarial assumption was analyzed separately as part of the test. Interdependencies were not taken into account. 
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 Bonds (23)
 
The bonds were issued by Hilti Corporation. Further details of the individual bonds are included in the key figures (see page 3).  
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Maturity     
< 1 year 117.1 – 
1 to < 2 years 100.0 118.0 
2 to < 3 years 42.4 99.9 
3 to < 4 years – 42.8 
4 to < 5 years – – 
>= 5 years 100.0 100.1 
Total bonds 359.5  360.8  
      
Currency     
CHF 200.0 199.9 
EUR 159.5 160.9 
Total bonds 359.5  360.8  
      
Further information     
Fair values 375.3 379.9 
Average effective interest rates (in %) 1.7 1.8 
 
The euro bonds (‘Schuldscheindarlehen’) are not tradable on any recognized stock exchange. 
 
The fair values of Swiss franc bonds totaling CHF 213.2 million (2015: CHF 214.4 million) are based on the quoted market prices and 
are within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of the euro bonds totaling CHF 162.1 million (2015: CHF 165.5 million) are 
based on the discounted cash flows using a market-based discount rate and within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 

 Long-term bank borrowings (24) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Maturity     
1 to < 2 years 19.0 19.4 
2 to < 5 years 9.4 8.7 
>= 5 years – – 
Total long-term bank borrowings 28.4 28.1 
 
All of the total long-term bank borrowings are denominated in euro and secured by receivables in the same amount (see note (14)).  
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 Current income taxes payable and receivable (26)
 
Current income taxes payable and receivable consist of income taxes payable and refundable relating to the current or prior years. 
Details concerning deferred income tax liabilities and assets are shown in note (11). 
 

 Accrued liabilities and deferred income (27)
 
Accrued liabilities and deferred income comprise short-term liabilities, which include estimates, short-term expense accruals and 
deferrals of income already received but attributable to subsequent accounting periods. 
 

 Short-term bank borrowings (28) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Currency     
EUR 31.9 32.9 
RUB 15.0 10.8 
TRY 10.9 7.8 
BRL 6.3 7.4 
MXN 5.6 4.0 
Other 16.3 38.0 
Total short-term bank borrowings 86.0 100.9 
 
CHF 31.4 million (2015: CHF 32.2 million) of the total short-term bank borrowings are secured by receivables in the same amount (see 
note (14)). 
 

 Operating revenues (29)
 
Categories of operating revenues are as follows:  
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Net sales of goods 4,444.5 4,218.0 
Net sales of services 188.4 165.5 
Total net sales 4,632.9 4,383.5 
Other operating revenues 103.3 94.9 
Total operating revenues 4,736.2 4,478.4 
 
The above categories ‘net sales of goods’ and ‘net sales of services’ in terms of IAS 18 Revenue represent, respectively, revenue from 
sales of goods and revenue from rendering of services. Other operating revenues, amongst others, consist of finance lease interests 
including related risk premiums. 
 
A breakdown of net sales by geographical areas and by major countries is given in note (37). 
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 Material costs (30) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Materials (1,314.0) (1,290.7) 
Outsourced manufacturing (16.4) (15.7) 
Total material costs (1,330.4) (1,306.4) 
Change in inventory 15.6 (7.6) 
Total material costs including change in inventory (1,314.8) (1,314.0) 
 

 Personnel expenses (31)
 
Personnel expenses comprise wages and salaries and social contributions. Social contributions include expenses for pensions and 
similar liabilities in addition to social security contributions.  
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Salaries and wages (1,541.5) (1,416.8) 
Social contributions (344.7) (335.7) 
Total personnel expenses (1,886.2) (1,752.5) 
 
The breakdown of the number of employees of Group companies by function is as follows:  
  2016 2015 
      
Sales 19,267 18,325 
Research and development 1,411 1,308 
Production 2,924 2,793 
Administration 1,017 959 
Total employees (as at December 31) 24,619 23,385 
 

 Depreciation and amortization (32)
 
This position comprises depreciation, amortization and impairment losses on intangible assets as well as property, plant and 
equipment. 
 

 Other operating expenses (33)
 
Major items included in other operating expenses are expenditures for rent, travel, outward freight, maintenance, legal & consulting 
and transportation. 
  

Hilti Financial Report 2016 | 52 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Hilti Financial Report 2016 | 53 

 Other revenues and expenses (net) (34)
 
Other revenues and expenses (net) comprise: 
 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Gains/(losses) on disposal of foreign operations and investments (1.4) – 
Interest and dividend revenues 4.0 3.9 
Gains/(losses) arising from valuation changes on financial assets and fair value hedging instruments 3.3 1.0 
Gains/(losses) on foreign currency hedging instruments (9.7) 3.7 
Gains/(losses) on foreign currencies 7.2 (16.2) 
Net interest income/(expense) on defined benefit plans (6.7) (7.0) 
Total other revenues and (expenses) (net) (3.3) (14.6) 
 

 Finance costs (35)
 
Finance costs are reported at the gross interest expense amount. Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 
represents the total interest expense on financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income from investments is 
separately included in ‘other revenues and expenses (net)’. 
 

 Income tax expense (36)
 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Current tax (75.5) (87.1) 
Deferred tax (16.2) (9.5) 
Total income tax expense (91.7) (96.6) 
 
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate 
applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows: 
 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Net income before income tax 573.1 506.1 
      
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the respective countries (92.1) (84.2) 
Income not subject to tax 4.7 3.6 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (12.0) (7.3) 
Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses 0.9 2.4 
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognized (3.2) (0.6) 
Tax attributable to prior years (10.1) (9.3) 
Other effects 20.1 (1.2) 
Income tax expense (91.7) (96.6) 
      
Weighted average applicable tax rate 16.1% 16.6% 
 
In 2016, the line ‘Other effects’ includes the reversal of the tax effect of non-tax deductible goodwill impairments totaling CHF 72.0 
million that were recognized in 2013 and 2014 due to the sale of Unirac Inc. during the year (see note (7)). The line ‘Other effects’ also 
includes the effects of changes in tax rates and expenses or incomes subject to different tax rates. 
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 Segment information (37)
 
In accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments, paragraph 5, the Group operates in only one single operating segment. Additional 
information concerning products, services and geographical areas is as follows: 
 

 Net sales information about products and services (37.1)
 
in CHF million   2016 2015 
        
Electric Tools & Accessories Products 2,098.6  2,003.5  
Electric Tools & Accessories Services 159.9  138.5  
Total Electric Tools & Accessories   2,258.5  2,142.0  
    
Fastening & Protection Systems Products 2,345.9  2,214.5  
Fastening & Protection Systems Services 28.5  27.0  
Total Fastening & Protection Systems   2,374.4  2,241.5  
    
Total Group   4,632.9  4,383.5  
 

 Net sales information about geographical areas (37.2)
 
in CHF million 2016 2015 Change in 

CHF (in %) 
Change in 
local 
currencies 
(in %) 

          
Europe excl. Eastern Europe 2,221.9 2,081.3 6.8 6.2 
North America 1,120.0 1,045.6 7.1 5.2 
Latin America 117.0 131.8 (11.3) (1.2) 
Asia/Pacific 662.0 627.0 5.6 3.3 
Eastern Europe/Middle East/Africa 512.0 497.8 2.9 5.6 
Total Group 4,632.9 4,383.5 5.7 5.3 
 
Net sales information by geographical areas is based on the country of the third-party customer. 
 

 Net sales information for major countries (37.3)
 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
USA 948.3 882.9 
Germany 624.1 569.7 
France 370.5 347.4 
Liechtenstein (country of domicile) 69.2 72.9 
Other countries 2,620.8 2,510.6 
Total Group 4,632.9 4,383.5 
 
Net sales by major countries are based on the country of domicile of the respective Group companies. 
 
The Group has no customer exceeding the threshold of 10% of the Group’s revenue. 
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 Related party disclosures (42)
 

 Key management personnel compensation (42.1)
 
Details of compensation of key management personnel are as follows:  
financial amounts in CHF million 2016 2015 

  
Number of 
members 

Re- 
muneration 

Number of 
members 

Re- 
muneration 

          
Board of Directors 8 3.8 8 3.6 
Corporate Management (Executive Board and Executive Management Team) 27 45.8 27 45.5 
Total 35 49.6 35 49.1 
          
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits   32.7   30.7 
Post-employment benefits   6.1   3.7 
Other employee benefits, mainly related to long-term incentive   10.8   14.7 
Total employee benefits to key management   49.6   49.1 
 
Employee benefits to key management include both fixed and variable components. The variable components are performance-linked 
and include a long-term incentive which is payable only if certain predetermined specific financial targets linked to the sustainable 
development and growth of the Group’s business are achieved. In accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits, the 2016 portion of the 
estimated ultimate amount payable has been recognized as an obligation at December 31, 2016, under the heading of other employee 
benefits (see note (22)). 
 

 Ownership of parent (42.2)
 
100% of the registered shares of the Hilti Corporation are owned by the Martin Hilti Family Trust. 
 

 Other transactions and balances with shareholder (42.3)
 
The Hilti Corporation rendered accounting, administration, rental and other support services to the Martin Hilti Family Trust. The 
amount invoiced was CHF 1.0 million (2015: CHF 1.0 million). These services were charged at cost. Additionally, the Hilti Corporation 
has a current liability to the Martin Hilti Family Trust of CHF 0.3 million (2015: CHF 0.7 million). 
 

 Events after the reporting period (43)
 
There were no significant transactions after the reporting period. 
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 Group companies and joint arrangements (44)
 
Country  Company name and location  Activity 

 S = sales  
 R = research  
 D = development  
 P = production  
 Se = services  
 H = holding 

 

Parent company 
 
Liechtenstein Hilti Corporation, Feldkircherstrasse 100, P.O. Box 333, 9494 Schaan,  

Tel. +423 234 2111, www.hilti.com 
S, R, D, P, Se, H 

 

100% owned consolidated Group companies (subsidiaries – including production plants and market organizations)  
Albania Hilti Albania sh.p.k., Tirana S 

Algeria Hilti Construction Equipements EURL, Alger S 
Argentina Hilti Argentina S.R.L., Buenos Aires S 
Australia Hilti (Aust.) Pty. Ltd., Rhodes New South Wales  S 
Austria Hilti Austria Gesellschaft m.b.H., Wien S 
  Hilti Holding GmbH, Wien H 
  Hilti Aktiengesellschaft Zweigniederlassung Thüringen, Thüringen P 
  Eurofox GmbH, Lanzenkirchen P, D 
Belarus Hilti BY FLLC, Minsk S 
Belgium Hilti Belgium N.V., Asse-Zellik S 
  Hilti Belgium Finance CVBA, Asse Se 
Bosnia-Herzegovina Hilti Systems BH d.o.o. Sarajevo, Sarajevo S 
Brazil Hilti do Brasil Comercial Ltda., São Paulo S 
Bulgaria Hilti (Bulgaria) EOOD, Sofia S 
Canada Hilti (Canada) Corporation, Mississauga, Ontario S 
Chile Hilti Chile Limitada, Santiago de Chile S 
China Hilti (China) Ltd., Zhanjiang P, D 
  Hilti (China) Distribution Ltd., Shanghai S 
 Hilti (PEC Suzhou) Ltd., Suzhou (newly formed in 2016) P 
  Hilti (Shanghai) Ltd., Shanghai P, D 
Colombia Hilti Colombia S A S, Bogota D.C. S 
Croatia Hilti Croatia d.o.o., Sesvete S 
Czech Republic Hilti ČR spol. s r.o., Průhonice S 
Denmark Hilti Danmark A/S, Rødovre-Copenhagen S 
Estonia Hilti Eesti OÜ, Tallinn S 
Finland Hilti (Suomi) OY, Vantaa S 
France Hilti France S.A., Magny-les-Hameaux S 
Germany Hilti Deutschland AG (Liechtenstein), Zweigniederlassung Deutschland S 
  Hilti GmbH Industriegesellschaft für Befestigungstechnik, Kaufering P 
  Hilti Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH, Kaufering D 
  Hilti Kunststofftechnik GmbH, Nersingen P 
  Hilti Deutschland Logistik GmbH, Oberhausen Se 
  PEC Europe GmbH, Duisburg (renamed from Hilti Deutschland Dienstleistung GmbH in 2016) S, D 
Great Britain Hilti (Great Britain) Ltd., Manchester S 
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The following table identifies the significant presentation differences relating to items in the financial statements of Hilti Corporation 
and the corresponding items in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
Relevant financial statement item Presentation in financial statements of  

Hilti Corporation 
Presentation in Group financial statements 

Investments in deposits, bonds and equi-
ties restricted to the funding of losses 
arising from damages to assets and losses 
arising from product-related obligations. 

Included in ‘financial investments’. Included in ‘financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss’ under current assets 
heading. 

Recognized values of derivative financial 
instruments. 

Included in ‘accrued income and prepay-
ments’ or ‘accrued liabilities and deferred 
income’ as applicable. 

Presented as a separate line item ‘derivative 
financial instruments’ under each of the 
current and non-current assets and liabili-
ties headings. 

Short-term tax obligations. Included in ‘provisions’. Presented as a separate line item ‘current 
income taxes payable’ under current liabili-
ties heading. 

 

 Changes in accounting policies (2.3)
 
There have been no material changes in accounting policies in the 2016 financial statements of Hilti Corporation from those adopted in 
2015. 
 

 Exchange rates (3)
 
For details of foreign exchange rates of principal currencies that have been applied for translation into Swiss francs, see note (2.5) of 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

 Intangible assets (4)
 
in CHF million Rights Other  

intangible 
assets 

Prepay- 
ments or 
assets 
under de- 
velopment 

Total 

          
Cost 2016         
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 12.2 78.5 0.5 91.2 
Currency translation adjustment – – – – 
Additions 0.3 8.4 – 8.7 
Disposals – (0.9) (0.5) (1.4) 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 12.5 86.0 – 98.5 
          
Accumulated amortization 2016         
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 (10.6) (64.5) – (75.1) 
Currency translation adjustment – – – – 
Additions (0.5) (3.8) – (4.3) 
Disposals – 0.4 – 0.4 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 (11.1) (67.9) – (79.0) 
          
Net book values at December 31, 2016 1.4 18.1 – 19.5 
Net book values at December 31, 2015 1.6 14.0 0.5 16.1 
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 Property, plant and equipment (5) 
in CHF million Land and 

buildings 
Plant and 
machinery 

Other 
operating 
equipment 

Prepay-
ments or 
assets 
under 
construction 

Total 

            
Cost 2016           
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 497.9 463.4 132.6 13.7 1,107.6 
Currency translation adjustment (0.5) (0.8) (0.2) – (1.5) 
Additions 17.4  17.0  7.4  6.9  48.7 
Disposals (61.8) (6.6) (4.3) – (72.7) 
Transfers 4.4  4.1  (1.4) (7.1) – 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 457.4 477.1 134.1 13.5 1,082.1 
            
Accumulated depreciation 2016           
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 (158.9) (427.3) (109.7) – (695.9) 
Currency translation adjustment 0.2 0.6 0.2 – 1.0 
Additions (10.0) (17.9) (7.2) – (35.1) 
Disposals 49.3 7.7 3.7 – 60.7 
Transfers – (1.8) 1.8 – – 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 (119.4) (438.7) (111.2) – (669.3) 
            
Net book values at December 31, 2016 338.0 38.4 22.9 13.5 412.8 
Net book values at December 31, 2015 339.0 36.1 22.9 13.7 411.7 
 

 Financial investments (6) 
in CHF million Share- 

holdings 
Loans to 
Group 
companies 

Other 
financial 
investments 

Total 

 
        

Cost 2016         
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 1,662.5 77.0 24.1 1,763.6 
Currency translation adjustment – (0.6) – (0.6) 
Additions 76.7  – 0.1  76.8 
Disposals (58.8) (57.7) (7.9) (124.4) 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 1,680.4 18.7 16.3 1,715.4 
          
Accumulated valuation allowance 2016         
Opening balance at January 1, 2016 (89.4) – – (89.4) 
Currency translation adjustment – – – – 
Additions – – – – 
Disposals 40.4 – – 40.4 
Closing balance at December 31, 2016 (49.0) – – (49.0) 
          
Net book values at December 31, 2016 1,631.4 18.7 16.3 1,666.4 
Net book values at December 31, 2015 1,573.1 77.0 24.1 1,674.2 
 
A list of Group companies, directly or indirectly held by Hilti Corporation, is included in note (44) of this Financial Report. Pursuant to 
Article 1094 (3) of the PGR, some details relating to investments in Group companies have not been disclosed in this list.  
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 Inventories (7) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Raw materials 18.3 20.4 
Consumables 8.5 8.7 
Production in progress 5.8 6.2 
Finished products and goods held for resale 79.8 93.6 
Total inventories 112.4 128.9 
 
The decrease in ‘Total inventories’ includes an increase in the provision for inventories of CHF 15.5 million (2015: CHF 40.0 million), 
which is optional under PGR and tax rules. The total amount for this provision amounts to CHF 55.5 million (2015: CHF 40.0 million). 
 

 Trade and other receivables (8) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 

Short-term Long-term Total Short-term Long-term Total 
              
Trade accounts receivables from third parties 22.5  – 22.5 21.3 – 21.3 
Trade accounts receivables from group companies 584.5  – 584.5 474.8 – 474.8 
Total trade accounts receivables 607.0  – 607.0 496.1 – 496.1 
              
Other accounts receivables from third parties 13.5  – 13.5 13.8 – 13.8 
Other accounts receivables from group companies 0.6  – 0.6 0.6 – 0.6 
Total other accounts receivables 14.1  – 14.1 14.4 – 14.4 
              
Total trade and other receivables 621.2  – 621.2 510.5 – 510.5 
 
The contractual maturity of short-term receivables is less than one year and for long-term receivables over one year. 
 

 Equity (9) 
in CHF million Share and 

PC capital 
Legal 
reserves 

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

            
Equity at January 1, 2016 126.7 108.4 (16.9) 2,112.1 2,330.3 
Dividend paid – – – (205.3) (205.3) 
Foreign currency translation differences – – (0.5) – (0.5) 
Net income – – – 284.0 284.0 
Equity at December 31, 2016 126.7 108.4 (17.4) 2,190.8 2,408.5 
 
The share capital consists of 176,000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 500 each and the participation capital consists of 
774,400 participation certificates with a par value of CHF 50 each. The participation capital has no voting rights. All the capital is fully 
paid in and is entitled to dividends.  
 
The currency translation differences arise from the inclusion of the income statement and balance sheet items of Plant Thüringen, 
Austria, which are denominated in euro. The foreign currency translation reserve comprises the accumulated foreign currency gains 
and losses recognized in equity since 2003. 
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 Provisions (10) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Provision for employee benefits 25.8 39.8 
Tax obligations 32.9 24.9 
Other provisions 14.8 8.2 
Total provisions 73.5 72.9 
 
Other provisions relate mainly to product liability. 
 

 Borrowings, payables and other liabilities (11) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
  Short–term Long–term Total Short–term Long–term Total 
              
Euro bonds 2012/2015-2019 117.1  42.4  159.5  – 160.9 160.9 
0.875% bond 2013/2018 – 100.0 100.0 – 99.9 99.9 
1.875% bond 2013/2023 – 100.0 100.0 – 100.0 100.0 
Total bonds 117.1  242.4  359.5  – 360.8 360.8 
              
Bank borrowings – – – – – – 
              
Trade accounts payables third parties 122.5  – 122.5  111.9 – 111.9 
Trade accounts payables group companies 95.2  – 95.2  97.5 – 97.5 
Total trade accounts payables 217.7  – 217.7  209.4 – 209.4 
              
Other liabilities owing to third parties 30.9  3.8  34.7  30.8 4.3 35.1 
Other liabilities owing to group companies 114.5  83.2  197.7  138.9 33.6 172.5 
Total other liabilities  145.4  87.0  232.4  169.7 37.9 207.6 

 
      

   Total borrowings, payables and other liabilities 480.2 329.4  809.6  379.1  398.7  777.8  
 
The contractual maturity of short-term liabilities is less than one year and for long-term liabilities over one year. 
 
Long-term liabilities to the Hilti Foundation in Thüringen, Austria, are secured by a mortgage on the property in Thüringen for CHF 0.3 
million (2015: CHF 0.3 million). 
 

 Material costs (12) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Raw materials, consumables and bought-in goods for resale (1,232.2) (1,193.1) 
Outsourced manufacturing (13.3) (12.3) 
Total material costs (1,245.5) (1,205.4) 
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 Personnel expenses (13) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Wages and salaries (247.3) (236.9) 
Pension contributions (36.9) (35.7) 
Other social contributions (15.3) (15.3) 
Total personnel expenses (299.5) (287.9) 
 

 Depreciation and amortization (14)
 
This position comprises depreciation and amortization on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. 
 

 Financial revenues (15)
 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Recovery of depreciation on financial assets – 0.8 
      
Financial investment revenues from third parties 4.3 1.5 
Financial investment revenues from group companies 49.1 959.6 
Total revenues from financial investments 53.4 961.1 
      
Revenues from cash and marketable securities invested with third parties – – 
Revenues from cash and marketable securities invested with group companies – – 
Total revenues from cash and marketable securities – – 
      
Total financial revenues 53.4 961.9 
 

 Financial expenses (16) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Depreciation on financial assets (8.2) – 
      
Interest and similar expenses incurred to third parties (7.3) (7.8) 
Interest and similar expenses incurred to group companies (2.9) (22.9) 
Total interest and similar expenses (10.2) (30.7) 
      
Operating currency and hedge gains/(losses) 1.4 4.7 
      
Total financial expenses (17.0) (26.0) 
 

 Tax expense (17)
 
For income tax purposes, dividends received are tax-exempt. 
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 Derivative financial instruments (18)
 
Hilti Corporation enters into derivative contracts to hedge mainly foreign currency risks arising from forecast foreign currency sales and 
purchases transactions. Derivative contracts are recognized when the applicable forecast transactions occur. Until then they remain 
off-balance sheet. Recognized (i.e. on-balance sheet) derivative contracts are reported at fair value. Changes in the fair value of 
recognized derivative contracts are reported in the income statement. In accordance with Article 1093 of the PGR, details of the on- 
and off-balance sheet derivative contracts outstanding at balance sheet date are as follows:  
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Contract face amounts     
Foreign currency forward contracts 546.4 482.6 
Interest rate swaps 60.0 60.0 
Total contract face amounts 606.4 542.6 
      
Contract values     
Foreign currency forward contracts (5.3) (5.5) 
Interest rate swaps 7.0 7.2 
Total contract values 1.7 1.7 
      
Reporting of contract values     
Contract values recognized (on-balance sheet) 1.7 1.7 
Contract values unrecognized (off-balance sheet) – – 
Total contract values 1.7 1.7 
 

 Segment information (19)
 
Pursuant to Article 1094 (2) of the PGR, a breakdown of net sales has not been disclosed. 
 

 Contingent liabilities (20) 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Guarantees third parties – – 
Guarantees group companies 151.9 107.6 
Total contingent liabilities 151.9 107.6 
 

 Commitments (21)
 
Payment commitments arising from operating lease contracts and service contracts are as follows:  
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Expiring within 1 year 0.6 0.7 
Expiring between 1 and 5 years 1.1 1.2 
Total commitments 1.7 1.9 
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 Remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Corporate Management (22)
 
For details of the remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Corporate Management, see note (42) of the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

 Other transactions and balances with shareholder (23)
 
For details about other transactions and balances with the shareholder see note (42.3) within the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 

 Number of employees (24)
 
The breakdown of employees by nationality is as follows:  
Country 2016 % 2015 % 
          
Austria 831 42% 843 44% 
Germany 403 20% 379 20% 
Liechtenstein 162 8% 162 9% 
Switzerland 217 11% 220 11% 
Other countries 388 19% 321 16% 
Total employees 2,001 100% 1,925 100% 
 

 Management report (25)
 
Pursuant to Article 1121 (3) of the PGR, the management report of Hilti Corporation has been combined with the consolidated 
management report. The consolidated management report is on pages 6 and 7 of this Financial Report. 
 

 Appropriation of retained earnings (26)
 
in CHF million 2016 2015 
      
Profit brought forward 1,906.8 975.8 
Net income 284.0 1,136.3 
At the disposal of the General Meeting 2,190.8 2,112.1 
      
Proposal by the Board of Directors     
Dividend of     
  CHF 960 (2015: CHF 810) per share 169.0 142.6 
  CHF 96 (2015: CHF 81) per participation certificate 74.3 62.7 
Appropriation to other reserves – – 
Balance carried forward 1,947.5 1,906.8 
Total 2,190.8 2112.1 
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF 
HILTI AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT, SCHAAN 
 
 
Report on the audit of the financial 
statements 

Opinion 
 
We have audited the accounting records and financial statements of Hilti Aktiengesellschaft, 
which comprise the balance sheet, the income statement and notes (pages 68 to 77), and the 
management report (pages 6 to 7) for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 
31 December 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Liechtenstein law. Furthermore, the accounting records and financial 
statements and the management report comply with Liechtenstein law and the company’s 
articles of incorporation. 

  
 Basis for opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Liechtenstein law and International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further 
described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section of 
our report. 
 
We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Liechtenstein law and 
the requirements of the Liechtenstein audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

  
 Audit scope 

 
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material 
misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where subjective 
judgements were made; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that 
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in 
all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, 
including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that 
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

  
 Materiality 

 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims 
to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
 
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality, including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in 
the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the 
scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate 
the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a 
whole. 
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Overall materiality CHF 15.7 million 
How we determined it 5% of profit before tax 
Rationale for the materiality benchmark 
applied 

We chose profit before tax because, this is the 
most commonly used performance measure 
for the company and it is a generally accepted 
benchmark. 

   
 Report on key audit matters  

 
We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report. 

  
 Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the financial statements  

 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of Liechtenstein law and the company’s articles of 
incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors 
either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

  
 Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Liechtenstein law and ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Liechtenstein law and ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

  
Report on other legal and  
regulatory requirements 

The management report is in accordance with the financial statements. 
 
We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with 
Liechtenstein law and the company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the 
financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

  

 PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

   

 René Rausenberger 
Audit expert 
Auditors in charge 

Gianluca Galasso 
Audit expert 

  
 St. Gallen, March 8, 2017 
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Invest or In for ma tion  

INVESTOR INFORMATION 
 
 
Contact 
information 

Investor relations 
 
Werner Wallner 
Executive Vice President  
Finance & Controlling 
 
Hilti Corporation 
Feldkircherstrasse 100 
9494 Schaan 
Liechtenstein 
 
Phone +423 234 3523 
E-mail: werner.wallner@hilti.com 
www.hilti.com 
 

 

Media relations 
 
Matthias Hassler 
Media Officer 
 
 
Hilti Corporation 
Feldkircherstrasse 100 
9494 Schaan 
Liechtenstein 
 
Phone +423 234 4949 
E-mail: matthias.hassler@hilti.com 
www.hilti.com 
 

Key dates Interim financial information 
January to April 2017 
 
Interim financial information  
January to August 2017 
 
Publication of the 2017 Financial Report 
 
Annual results media conference 

May 17, 2017 
 
 
September 22, 2017 
 
 
March 16, 2018 
 
March 16, 2018 




